STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II Case No. 2018AP1952-CR

RECEIVED 03-01-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARK D. JENSEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Chad G. Kerkman, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804 haskelld@opd.wi.gov

JEREMY C. PERRI Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1041820 perrij@opd.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the circuit court err by entering a conviction against Jensen without a trial, a guilty plea, or affording him any of the other central rights a defendant is entitled to at trial?

The circuit court entered a judgment of conviction against Jensen without a trial or a guilty plea.

2. Did the circuit court err by effectively overruling the Wisconsin Supreme Court, the Eastern District of Wisconsin, and the Seventh Circuit, all holding that the alleged victim's statements were testimonial?

Contrary to decisions from the three reviewing courts, the circuit court held the victim's statements were not testimonial.

3. Did the circuit court violate the federal habeas court's order to retry Jensen?

The circuit court entered a judgment of conviction against Jensen without a trial, a guilty plea, or affording him any of the other rights a defendant is entitled to at trial.

4. Is Jensen entitled to a new trial because his prior trial was infected by judicial bias?

The circuit court did not address this issue since the case was returned to court for a new trial. The defendant raised this issue in his original direct appeal in 2010 and raises the issue again here to preserve it for federal habeas review.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel requests oral argument and publication, as this case has a complicated procedural history and presents significant questions of constitutional law.

INTRODUCTION

Mark Jensen's 2008 homicide conviction was vacated after the federal courts found it constitutionally infirm. Yet, the retrial that was ordered never occurred. Instead, the Kenosha County Circuit Court re-determined the constitutional issue that the federal courts had decided, and then entered a judgment of conviction and life sentence against Jensen. It did this without a jury trial, without a guilty plea, and without any evidence. The judgment can be explained in one of two ways. If it's a new judgment of conviction, then it was a directed verdict and violated all of Jensen's constitutional jury trial rights. Or it's a reinstatement of the invalidated 2008 conviction, which means the circuit court effectively reversed the Seventh Circuit. Either way, the judgment must be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 2008, Mark Jensen went to trial, charged with homicide in the 1999 death of his wife, Julie. The trial, invalidated by Wisconsin's federal Eastern District Court and then the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals, lasted 49 days.

The State charged Jensen with homicide after its toxicologist, Dr. Long, concluded that Julie's stomach contained a "large concentration of ethylene glycol," demonstrating "an acute ingestion, at or near the time of death," so much that she could not have consumed that large quantity on her own. (1:3.)

Critical to the State's case were Julie's oral and written statements to police against her husband in the weeks before her death. In those statements, Julie told police that if anything happened to her, Jensen would be her first suspect. (298; 909:41, 45-46, 127-28.) The State insisted before trial that these statements were "an essential component of the State's case" against Jensen. Jensen v. Clements, 800 F.3d 892, 894 (7th Cir. 2015).

Support for the State's theory, that Jensen poisoned his wife (as opposed to the defense theory that Julie took her own life and sought to frame Jensen), was far from overwhelming. For instance, Dr. Long had grossly overestimated the amount of ethylene glycol in Julie's stomach (it actually contained a half teaspoon), and in another case, Dr. Long altered evidence. (903:188-95; 910:33-37.) The State's case relied on a witness whom the trial judge called "the top liar I've ever had in court." *Clements*, 800 F.3d at 907. And in turn, that "top liar's" testimony was relied on by other State's experts for their conclusions that Julie was suffocated—a theory that arose for the first time at trial. *Id.* at 897-98. Meanwhile, the jury heard evidence that Julie suffered from a major depressive disorder and posed a significant suicide risk. *Id.* at 907. And there was conflicting evidence about who in the Jensen household conducted internet searches for ethylene glycol poisoning. *Id.* at 906.

As the Seventh Circuit aptly stated: "This case was no slam dunk. The evidence was all circumstantial. And there was significant evidence in support of Jensen's theory that Julie had taken her life" *Id.* Indeed, the jury deliberated for over 30 hours before voting to convict. *Id.* at 898.

Admission of Julie's "letter from the grave," and other statements to police violated Jensen's right to confrontation. The errors were so significant that the federal district court and Seventh Circuit invalidated Jensen's conviction as constitutionally infirm, granted a writ of habeas corpus, and ordered a retrial. *Id.*; *Jensen v. Schwochert*, No. 11-C-803, 2013 WL 6708767 (E.D. Wis. Dec. 18, 2013). The State did not appeal the Seventh Circuit's order, and the case was returned to the Kenosha County Circuit Court for retrial.

The letter and statements

Two weeks before she died, Julie wrote a letter to police officer Ron Kosman, explaining that if anything happened to her, Jensen would be her first suspect. (298.) She sealed the letter in an envelope and gave it to her neighbors, telling them that they should give it to police if anything happened to her. (904:195.) Days after writing the letter, Julie called Officer Kosman and left a message saying her husband was trying to kill her. (909:41, 127-28.) Kosman heard the message after returning from a personal trip, then visited Julie at her home. She told him that if she wound up dead, it was not a suicide, and Jensen would be her first suspect. (909:41, 45-46.) Kosman offered to help her leave the house, but she declined, saying she thought everything would be okay, and that "her emotions were just running a little wild." (909:47-48.)

State court proceedings

Under the then-governing test of *Ohio v*. *Roberts*, 448 U.S. 56 (1980), the circuit court admitted Julie's letter and her statements to Kosman. *State v. Jensen*, 2007 WI 26, ¶ 9, 299 Wis. 2d 267, 727 N.W.2d 518 (*Jensen I*). The State conceded that Julie's voicemails to Kosman were inadmissible hearsay. *Jensen I*, 2007 WI 26, ¶ 9.

Before trial, the United States Supreme Court decided *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), and Jensen sought reconsideration. Applying *Crawford*, the circuit court ruled that Julie's letter and voicemails to Kosman were testimonial and therefore inadmissible. Id., ¶ 10. The State conceded that Julie's in-person statements to Kosman were testimonial and inadmissible. Id., ¶ 11 n.4. The court rejected the State's argument that Julie's statements were admissible under the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine. Id., ¶ 11.

The State appealed, and on bypass, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that under the "facts and circumstances of this case," Julie's letter and her statements to police were testimonial. Id., ¶ 20. The court noted that the letter was testimonial because it was "purposefully directed towards law enforcement agents," it was "very clear that Julie intended the letter to be used to further investigate or aid in prosecution in the event of her death," and it was intended to implicate her husband. Id., ¶ 27. The court found Julie's oral statements to police to be testimonial on largely the same basis. Id., \P 30. The statements "served no other purpose than to bear testimony and were entirely for accusatory and prosecutorial purposes." Id. The court further found that the voicemail "was not made for emergency purposes or to escape from a perceived danger. She instead sought to relay information in order to further the investigation of Jensen's activities." Id.

Although the court agreed that the letter and statements were testimonial, it adopted a "broad forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine," and remanded the case to the circuit court, where, if the State proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Jensen caused Julie's absence, his confrontation right would be forfeited. *Id.*, \P 57.

After a ten-day forfeiture by wrongdoing hearing, the circuit court, the Honorable Bruce Schroeder, found the State met its burden "that Jensen had caused Julie's absence from the trial and thus forfeited his right to confront the testimonial statements attributed to Julie."¹ State v. Jensen, 2011 WI App 3, ¶ 14, 331 Wis. 2d 440, 794 N.W.2d 482 (Jensen II). After the forfeiture hearing, the case went to trial where Jensen was convicted. (567.)

Four months later, the United States Supreme Court decided *Giles v. California*, 554 U.S. 353 (2008), which invalidated the Wisconsin Supreme Court's holding on the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing doctrine.

On appeal, Jensen argued that under Giles, "the admission of the testimonial statements [was] reversible error." Jensen II, 2011 WI App 3, ¶ 24. The Jensen II court, bound by the Wisconsin Supreme Court's holding that Julie's letter and statements to Kosman were testimonial, nonetheless found the error admitting those statements to be harmless. Id., ¶¶ 34-35. Jensen also argued that his due process right to a fair trial was violated when the judge who made a pretrial finding of guilt at the forfeiture by

¹ As the Seventh Circuit noted, "there are serious reasons to question this finding." *Clements*, 800 F.3d at 897 n.1.

wrongdoing hearing then presided over his jury trial. The court found that (1) the argument was forfeited because Jensen failed to present it in the circuit court, and (2) Jensen failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence that the judge was biased or prejudiced. *Id.*, ¶¶ 95-96.

Federal habeas proceedings

Jensen filed a habeas petition in federal court. The United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin granted Jensen's petition on December 18, 2013. The State did not dispute that the letter and Julie's statements to Kosman were testimonial. Jensen v. Schwochert, No. 11-C-803, 2013 WL 6708767, *6 (E.D. Wis. Dec. 18, 2013) (App. 152). Nevertheless, before finding a constitutional violation meriting habeas relief, the court was obligated to address the merits of the confrontation claim. Id. at *7. The court held that "Jensen's rights under the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment were violated when the trial court admitted Julie Jensen's letter and testimonial statements to police at his trial and that the errors were not harmless." Id. at *17. The court ordered Jensen "released from custody unless, within 90 days of this decision, the State initiates proceedings to retry him." Id.

Denying the State's motion to alter judgment, the district court made the meaning of its writ clear: the "State must therefore decide whether it will appeal the court's ruling or proceed now to a retrial." Jensen v. Schwochert, No. 11-C-803, 2014 WL 257861, *8 (E.D. Wis. Jan. 23, 2014); (App. 171).

The State appealed. The Seventh Circuit affirmed. Jensen v. Clements, 800 F.3d 892 (7th Cir. 2015); (App. 172). The court declared "[t]his letter and other accusatory statements [Julie] made to police in the weeks before her death regarding her husband should never have been introduced at trial." Id. at 895. The admission of Julie's letter and her statements violated Jensen's confrontation right: "that the jury improperly heard Julie's voice from the grave in the way that it did means there is no doubt that Jensen's rights under the federal Confrontation Clause were violated." Id. at 908 (emphasis added). The error was not harmless, evidenced by the extraordinary weight the State placed on the letter at trial, and the "significant evidence in support of Jensen's theory that Julie had taken her life." Id. at 905-07.

Remand to state court for retrial

Jensen's conviction was vacated, and on December 29, 2015, the Kenosha County Circuit reopened the case for further proceedings. (791:4; 806:12; 808:3.)

As the parties prepared for a new trial—after the prosecutor suggested he might try to re-admit Julie's testimonial statements—Jensen filed a motion to exclude those statements. (938:6-7; 709.) Four months later, the State asked the court to revisit the Confrontation Clause question that had been resolved in the federal courts and Wisconsin Supreme Court. (743.) It argued that no court since the trial had actually held that Julie's letter and statements were testimonial and that three recent Supreme Court decisions (Bryant, Clark, and Williams) redefined what constituted a testimonial statement. such that Julie's statements no longer qualified.² (743.) The State argued that the circuit court was not bound by the decisions of the Wisconsin Supreme Court or federal courts, which held that Julie's letter and statements to Kosman were testimonial. (945:35.) Jensen responded that the court was bound under the law-of-the-case doctrine to exclude Julie's letter and statements, because they had already been found to be testimonial by the Wisconsin Supreme Court, the federal district court, and the Seventh Circuit. (765.)

After briefing (709; 743; 761; 763; 765; 769; 773; 775), the court, by the Honorable Judge Chad Kerkman, ruled that the letter was not testimonial and thus, could be admitted at trial. (946:73-79; App. 104-10.) The court acknowledged that the federal district court and the Seventh Circuit both found that admitting the letter violated Jensen's rights under the Confrontation Clause. (946:74-75; App. 105-06.) But, not seeing any explicit instruction in those cases

² Notably, all three cases were decided *before* the Seventh Circuit issued its decision in this case. *Michigan v. Bryant*, 562 U.S. 344 (2011); *Williams v. Illinois*, 567 U.S. 50 (2012); *Ohio v. Clark*, 135 S. Ct. 2173 (2015).

that the letter had to be excluded, the circuit court decided it was free to revisit whether the letter was testimonial. (946:74.) The court then considered factors first articulated by the United States Supreme Court in 2006, and concluded that the letter was not testimonial and could therefore be admitted at a retrial. (946:78-79.) The court made no finding that the law had changed in a way that would allow it to disregard the law of the case.

A month later, the State filed a motion to reinstate the verdict without a retrial. (791.) It argued that since the court ruled that the letter was not testimonial, there had been no constitutional error at Jensen's original trial, so a new trial was unnecessary. (791.) Jensen responded that the writ of habeas corpus required a new trial. (806.) The State insisted the habeas writ only required it to "initiate[] proceedings to retry" Jensen, and that it had no obligation to actually retry him, so it had complied with the writ. (791:1.)

While that issue was being briefed, the State filed a motion in the federal district court, seeking clarification of the habeas writ. (791:22.) It asserted that the district court's judgment could be read in two ways: first, it merely required the State to recommence its prosecution of Jensen without regard to whether the State actually afforded him a trial. Second, the habeas order could be interpreted as requiring that the proceedings culminate in a jury verdict unless Jensen entered a plea. (791:26.) The State recognized that under the second interpretation, reinstating Jensen's conviction might not comply with the conditional writ, and thus wanted clarification to avoid being found in contempt. (791:27.)

The district court ruled that *at the time*, the State was in compliance with the writ since retrial proceedings had been initiated and were moving forward. (804:5-6; App. 191-92.) The court warned, however, that "[t]his does not mean . . . that Jensen will not be entitled to relief if the previous conviction is reinstated. The court offers no opinion as to whether the circuit court's determination that challenged statements are non-testimonial is proper and whether Jensen's previous conviction can be constitutionally reinstated without a new trial." (*Id.* at 6.)

Back in state court, the circuit court adopted the State's view that holding a bond hearing and revisiting the issue of the letter's admissibility complied with the writ. (949:8-9; App. 112-13.) It then reinstated the original judgment of conviction and Jensen's life sentence. (*Id.*)

The court's view was that a new trial would be pointless as the evidence would be "materially the same as in the first trial," and it questioned why a trial should be held, since it would take a long time, "six, maybe seven weeks." (*Id.*) The court went on:

> And so, the question right now is should the prior conviction be reinstated along with the sentence or do we need to have a new trial because we

believe that the federal court ordered us to have a new trial even though the evidence would be the same.

That doesn't make a whole lot of sense to me. If the evidence is going to be materially the same as in the first trial and the federal judge says, yes, the State has complied with our order, they've—they had the choice of releasing the defendant or reinstating proceedings to try the defendant, and it sounds to me like the federal judge has agreed that the State has done what they needed to do, it doesn't make a whole lot of sense to me as far as judicial economy to have a new trial on the same evidence as in the first trial.

(*Id.*)

With that, the court entered a judgment of conviction and life sentence against Jensen, noting that "the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court can do as they will." (*Id.*)

Jensen filed an objection to reinstating the conviction, arguing that doing so violated his constitutional right to a jury trial. (812; App. 109.) Without another hearing on the matter, the court entered a written order, prepared by the State, entering a conviction, finding that the evidence at a new trial would be "materially the same as the first trial," so there was no need to have a trial. (813; App. 102.)

Following the circuit court's re-entry of conviction, Jensen filed a brief in the federal district

court, arguing that the failure to retry him violated the habeas writ. *Jensen v. Clements*, No. 11-C-803, 2017 WL 5712690 (E.D. Wis. Nov. 27, 2017); (App. 193). Jensen argued that the district court had continuing jurisdiction to enforce compliance with the writ, and that he was entitled to a new trial. *Id*.

The district court found that it no longer had jurisdiction over the original habeas writ because a new judgment of conviction had been entered. Id., *6. That is, while the federal court invalidated Jensen's first conviction as unconstitutional, it found that this was a *new judgment* that required Jensen to again exhaust potential state remedies. The court observed: "Whether under this unique set of circumstances the state trial court had the authority to revisit the issue of whether the letter and related statements were as well \mathbf{as} whether the court's testimonial. determination on the merits that they were not, are matters of state and federal law of which Jensen is free to seek review in the Wisconsin Court of Appeals." Id. at 14-15; (App. 106-07). An appeal of this decision is pending in the Seventh Circuit.

Jensen appeals from the circuit court's order entering a judgment of conviction and life sentence against him.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court violated Jensen's right to a jury trial, and every constitutional right he could have exercised at that trial, by entering a conviction against him in the absence of a trial or guilty plea.

The circuit court violated Jensen's state and federal constitutional rights to a jury trial by finding him guilty without a trial. Jensen's conviction had been invalidated and vacated; he could only be convicted after a jury trial or a guilty plea. Regardless of whether the court could re-determine the confrontation issue—it couldn't, as explained in Section II—the court was without authority to enter a judgment of conviction against Jensen. This court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

These are issues of constitutional law, which this court reviews de novo. Coulee Catholic Sch. v. LIRC, 2009 WI 88, ¶ 31, 320 Wis. 2d 275, 768 N.W.2d 868.

A. After Jensen's conviction was invalidated on appeal, he stood convicted of nothing and the slate was wiped clean.

The Seventh Circuit held that Jensen's trial was constitutionally infirm. The State did not seek review by the United States Supreme Court, and so Jensen's case was returned to the Kenosha County Circuit Court for retrial. The conviction was vacated and bail was set. (937:18.) Jensen stood convicted of nothing. His prior conviction was nullified, and the slate was wiped clean.

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