Filed 09-17-2020

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP1952-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

MARK D. JENSEN,

Defendant-Appellant

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Reversing a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Chad G. Kerkman, Presiding

### RESPONSE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LAUREN J. BRECKENFELDER Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1094543 breckenfelderl@opd.wi.gov

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804 haskelld@opd.wi.gov

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

The Supreme Court's decision in *Clark* does not render this Court's holding in Jensen I that Julie's statements were testimonial clearly erroneous. Similar to Bryant, Clark was applying the primarypurpose test to a new situation, not reinventing the rule. Importantly, the reasons why the Court concluded the child's statements were not testimonial do not apply here. The Court emphasized that the declarant in *Clark* was a toddler; Julie was a grown, college-educated woman. The child's statements were made to his preschool teachers; Julie's letter and statements were made to law enforcement. The child made his statements informally in response to questions from his teacher meant to determine whether he was safe at home; Julie independently and deliberately documented her husband's activities

for law enforcement and named him as a suspect in the event of her future demise.

c. Bryant and Clark did not change the primary-purpose test that this Court relied on in Jensen I.

The State does not argue that Clark and *Bryant* were decided contrary to *Davis* or *Jensen I*, or that *Clark* and *Bryant* render the *Jensen I* decision clearly erroneous. The State instead focuses on four alleged differences between *Jensen I* and the Supreme Court's definition of testimonial statements in *Bryant* and *Clark*. None of these differences constitute a change in the law that would warrant abandonment of the *Jensen I* holding.

First, the State argues that the Jensen I understanding of what made a statement testimonial was broader, and that under that definition "any statement that could potentially later be used in a criminal investigation or prosecution is testimonial" while *Bryant* and *Clark* require that "the statement is meant to be a substitute for trial testimony." (State's Br. 27).

This Court's analysis in Jensen I refutes the State's characterization:

• "The proper inquiry, then, is whether the declarant intends to bear testimony against the accused. That intent, in turn, may be determined by querying whether a reasonable person in the declarant's position would anticipate his statement

٠

being used against the accused in investigating and prosecuting the crime." Jensen I, 2007 WI 26,  $\P24$ ; (App. 105-106).

- "The circuit court concluded that the letter was testimonial as it had no apparent purpose other than to 'bear testimony' and Julie intended it exclusively for accusatory and prosecutorial purposes." *Id.*, ¶26 (App. 106).
- "The content and the circumstances surrounding the letter make it very clear that Julie intended the letter to be used to further investigate or aid in prosecution in the event of her death."  $Id., \P27$ ; (App. 106).
- Referring to the voicemails, the court wrote "Again, the circuit court determined that these statements served no other purpose than to bear testimony and were entirely for accusatory and prosecutorial purposes." *Id.*, ¶30; (App. 106).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court properly applied the primary-purpose test in *Jensen I*: "No other purpose than to bear testimony," "entirely for accusatory and prosecutorial purposes," and "content and circumstances surrounding" the statements. This is nowhere near the State's characterization of broadly including "any statement that could potentially later be used..." Nor is it meaningfully different from the Supreme Court's analyses in *Davis*, *Bryant*, and *Clark*.

Further, the Jensen I Court noted that if it allowed Julie's letter to be admitted, it "would be allowing accusers the right to make statements clearly intended for prosecutorial purposes without ever having to worry about being cross-examined or confronted by the accused." Id., ¶30; (App. 106). Or, put another way, it would be allowed to work as a "substitute for trial testimony."

Second, the State asserts that while Jensen I only considered "whether a reasonable person in the declarant's position would foresee whether the statement would be used in an investigation," Bryant and *Clark* instruct courts to consider all the circumstances in which an encounter occurs, as well as the statements and actions of both the declarant and the interrogators to objectively determine the interrogation's primary purpose. (State's Br. 27-28). Again, the State does not explain how any difference renders the Jensen I decision clearly erroneous. But regardless, any distinction is immaterial under these facts. Julie did not write her letter or leave her voicemail at the prompting of an interrogator; she made her statements of her own initiative in order to create a record for Jensen's future prosecution. Thus, Jensen I considered Julie's statements in the full context in which they were made.

Third, the State argues that Jensen I implies that statements to law enforcement can only be nontestimonial in emergency situations and that this conflicts with Bryant and Clark, which the State asserts recognize "nonemergency situations in which a declarant's primary purpose in making a statement is not to create a substitute for trial testimony." (State's Br. 28). As discussed previously, the State's argument is purely hypothetical and fails to explain how this distinction is implicated under the facts of this case.

Finally, the State argues that because this Court has distilled the factors considered in Bryant and *Clark* into the four-factor test articulated in *Mattox*, the Court is "no longer applying the law it established in Jensen I." (State's Br. 28). But the four non-exclusive factors identified in *Mattox* are simply used to help identify a statement's primary purpose; they do not change the underlying primary-purpose test. And, most of these factors were expressly considered in Jensen I: Formality/informality (Jensen I, 2007 WI 26,  $\P$  (29, 33); whether law enforcement was the recipient (Id.,  $\P27$ ); and context (Id.,  $\P\P27$ -31). Julie's age was not expressly considered, but it also was not discussed in *Mattox* ("This factor, though pertinent in Ohio v. Clark.. is not applicable here and will not be discussed." Mattox, 2017 WI 9, ¶32 n.7). Further, the State regards her age as a "neutral" factor. (State's Br. 29).

> 4. The federal district court and the Seventh Circuit decided that Julie's letter and statements were testimonial, and those decisions are binding.

Importantly, this Court is not the only one to conclude that Julie's written and oral statements

were testimonial. This Court and the lower court were also bound by the federal district court and the Seventh Circuit determinations that introduction of these statements violated Jensen's confrontation right.

The circuit court was bound by the federal district court and the Seventh Circuit because the law-of-the-case doctrine includes decisions by federal courts reviewing state court proceedings, such as habeas corpus review. See United States ex rel. Lawrence v. Woods, 432 F.2d 1072, 1076 (7th Cir. 1970) ("Of course in a given factual setting when a lower federal court has jurisdiction over the subject matter and the parties, its adjudication is the law-of-the-case and its judgment is binding on all other courts, subject only to the appellate process.").

In this case—as in any habeas case—the State of Wisconsin represented the opposing party in the Seventh Circuit, and decision the on the Confrontation Clause was made in this very case. In fact, in State v. Mechtel, the State conceded "that had the defendant brought a habeas corpus proceeding in federal court and had a federal court made a determination that the state proceeding was constitutionally infirm, that determination would be binding." 176 Wis. 2d 87, 95, 499 N.W.2d 662 (1993). Therefore, the circuit court was also bound by the federal district court, and then the Seventh Circuit determinations that introduction of these statements violated Jensen's confrontation right.

The State does not dispute that a federal habeas court's decision on matters of federal

35

constitutional law is binding in subsequent statecourt proceedings. Instead, it insists that the federal courts never actually determined that Jensen's confrontation rights had been violated. (State's Br. 14). This completely ignores the federal courts' explicit holdings that admitting Julie's statements violated Jensen's confrontation right.

The federal district court held that "Jensen's rights under the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment were violated when the trial court admitted Julie Jensen's letter and testimonial statements to police at his trial and that the errors were not harmless." *Schwochert*, 2013 WL 6708767, \*17; (App. 135). To grant Jensen habeas relief, the district court was required to—and did—decide his constitutional claim as well as harmless error.

The Seventh Circuit affirmed, holding that admitting the letter and statements "violated the Confrontation Clause and was federal Constitutional error." Clements, 800 F.3d at 899 (App. 139). The court declared "[t]his letter and other accusatory statements [Julie] made to police in the weeks before her death regarding her husband should never have been introduced at trial." Id. at 895; (App. 136). The admission of Julie's letter and her statements violated Jensen's confrontation right: "That the jury improperly heard Julie's voice from the grave in the way that it did means there is no doubt that Jensen's rights under the federal Confrontation Clause were violated." Id. at 908; (App. 146). The Seventh circuit further found that the error was not harmless, evidenced by the extraordinary weight the State placed on the letter at trial, and the "significant evidence in support of Jensen's theory that Julie had taken her life." *Id.* at 905-07; (App. 145-147).

The federal courts unequivocally determined that there was a Confrontation Clause violation, and a Confrontation Clause violation only occurs where statements are determined to be testimonial. *See Crawford*, 541 US at 68. But going a step further, the federal courts' issuance of a writ of habeas corpus further establishes that they had found a confrontation clause violation, because there cannot be a writ of habeas corpus without a constitutional violation. 28 U.S.C. § 2254.

Importantly, the law-of-the-case "encompasses a court's explicit decisions, as well as those issues decided by necessary implication." United States v. Kaufmann, 985 F.2d 884, 891 (7th Cir. 1993), citing Williamsburg Wax Museum, Inc. v. Historic Figures, Inc., 810 F.2d 243, 250 (D.C. Cir. 1987). Further, "once an appellate court either expressly or by necessary implication decides an issue, the decision will be binding upon all subsequent proceedings in the same case." Key v. Sullivan, 925 F.2d 1056, 1060 (7th Cir. 1991) (emphasis added). The federal courts' issuance of a writ of habeas corpus thus implicitly establishes a Confrontation Clause violation, and thus their rulings because part of the law-of-the-case.

Despite the implicit and explicit findings by the federal courts that Jensen's confrontation clause rights were violated, the State asserts that the district court never "addressed or resolved whether Julie's statements were testimonial because the parties did not dispute that they were." (State's Br. 14). The State further argues that the Seventh Circuit did not address whether the statements were testimonial. *Id.* It is obvious that the State now regrets its repeated concessions that Julie's statements are testimonial, but its argument that those concessions somehow kept the federal courts from deciding the threshold issue in this case is nonsensical.

It is necessary for the State to ask that this Court ignore the federal rulings that were made because otherwise, it has no argument; *Bryant* and *Clark*, the only cases the State cites for bringing about a change in Confrontation law were handed down prior to the Seventh Circuit's ruling.

The State suggests that the federal courts were kept from deciding whether the statements were testimonial by the State's concessions that they were testimonial. (State's Br. 14). However, it is well understood that a court is never bound by the parties' concessions on points of law. Krieger v. United States, 842 F.3d 490, 499 (7th Cir. 2016). The federal courts in Jensen's habeas proceedings were not bound to accept the State's concession that the statements were testimonial if it conflicted with the law. Hernandez v. Holland, 750 F.3d 843, 856-57 (9th Cir. 2014). In fact, the State was free to argue in the federal courts that there had been no confrontation violation, but the State chose not to pursue that argument. That the State agreed the statements were testimonial did not, could not, and would not have prevented the federal courts from deciding the issue. (State's Br. 7). Indeed, the federal courts unequivocally stated that Jensen's confrontation rights had been violated, with the Seventh Circuit proclaiming, "that the jury improperly heard Julie's voice from the grave in the way that it did means there is no doubt that Jensen's rights under the federal Confrontation Clause were violated." *Clements*, 800 F.3d at 908; (App. 146).

The district court and Seventh Circuit decisions barred the circuit court from re-admitting Julie's letter and statements to Kosman. These decisions, handed down in 2013 and 2015, granted Jensen a new trial because the admission of Julie's testimonial statements violated his constitutional rights under the Confrontation Clause and because such violation was not harmless. To reach this conclusion, the federal courts necessarily-and explicitly-decided that the statements were testimonial. Furthermore, at the time the Seventh Circuit affirmed the district court, the most recent United States Supreme Court case on the Confrontation Clause, Clark, had been decided. Further litigation of the exact issue decided by the Seventh Circuit is barred by the law-of-thecase.

> 5. The State waived any argument that Julie's statements were nontestimonial when it failed to raise that argument before the federal courts.

The State acknowledges that it did not dispute that Julie's statements were testimonial before the federal district court or the Seventh Circuit. (State's Br. 7). The State now contends that this Court should not only excuse its earlier concession, but actually

use its failure to raise the issue in the proper forum to support its argument that the law-of-the-case was not established in the federal courts. (State's Br. 15). While both the federal district court and the Seventh Circuit unquestionably found a constitutional violation, this Court should nonetheless decline to decide whether Julie's statements were testimonial due to the State's repeated failure to raise the issue.

The habeas courts were asked to decide whether Jensen's confrontation rights had been violated and whether that violation was harmless: "Under *Giles*, the admission of Julie's letter and statements to the police, none of which were dying declarations, violated the Confrontation Clause and was federal Constitutional error.... That the jury improperly heard Julie's voice from the grave in the way that it did means there is no doubt that Jensen's rights under the federal Confrontation Clause were violated." *Clements* 800 F.3d at 899, 908; (App. 146).

If the State wished to argue the statements were not testimonial in the habeas litigation, there were three venues for that argument: the federal district court, the Seventh Circuit, or by cert petition to the United States Supreme Court. By not raising its argument before any of the federal habeas courts, the State waived it. See *United States v. Miller*, 2013 WL 3353917, \*14 (N.D. III) citing *United States v. Husband*, 312 F.3d 247 at 250-251 (7th Cir. 2002) ("because the appellate court has already addressed Miller's challenge to the search warrant and found the search valid, any challenge to the validity of the warrant on remand is closed to the defendant under the law-of-the-case doctrine. Additionally, to the extent Miller seeks to raise new issues regarding the search warrant that he could have raised on appeal i.e., the timing of the execution of the warrant—those issues are waived."). Otherwise, the result is a piecemeal, endless litigation.

Piecemeal, endless litigation is precisely what the State's failure to contest the issue in the appropriate forum has created. By conceding the confrontation issue in the federal courts, the State has repeatedly extended the appellate proceedings in this case. This Court should find that the State has waived its argument that Julie's letter and statements are testimonial.

B. Even if the circuit court could revisit the confrontation question, Julie's written and oral statements remain testimonial.

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